

**MINUTES OF THE MEETING
OF THE
ASSEMBLY COMMITTEE ON JUDICIARY**

**Seventy-Eighth Session
April 24, 2015**

The Committee on Judiciary was called to order by Chairman Ira Hansen at 8 a.m. on Friday, April 24, 2015, in Room 3138 of the Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street, Carson City, Nevada. The meeting was videoconferenced to Room 4406 of the Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada. Copies of the minutes, including the Agenda ([Exhibit A](#)), the Attendance Roster ([Exhibit B](#)), and other substantive exhibits, are available and on file in the Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau and on the Nevada Legislature's website at www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/78th2015. In addition, copies of the audio or video of the meeting may be purchased, for personal use only, through the Legislative Counsel Bureau's Publications Office (email: publications@lcb.state.nv.us; telephone: 775-684-6835).

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:

Assemblyman Ira Hansen, Chairman
Assemblyman Erven T. Nelson, Vice Chairman
Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson
Assemblyman Nelson Araujo
Assemblywoman Olivia Diaz
Assemblywoman Michele Fiore
Assemblyman Brent A. Jones
Assemblyman James Ohrenschall
Assemblyman P.K. O'Neill
Assemblywoman Victoria Seaman
Assemblyman Tyrone Thompson
Assemblyman Glenn E. Trowbridge

COMMITTEE MEMBERS ABSENT:

Assemblyman David M. Gardner (excused)

GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT:

Senator Pete Goicoechea, Senate District No. 19
Senator Greg Brower, Senate District No. 15

Minutes ID: 930



STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT:

Diane Thornton, Committee Policy Analyst
Brad Wilkinson, Committee Counsel
Janet Jones, Committee Secretary
Jamie Tierney, Committee Assistant

OTHERS PRESENT:

Henry Krenka, President, Nevada Outfitters and Guides Association
Mitch Buzzetti, Private Citizen, Lamoille, Nevada
Walt Gardner, Private Citizen, Ruby Valley, Nevada
Danny Riddle, Private Citizen, Ruby Valley, Nevada
Alex Tanchek, representing Nevada Cattlemen's Association
Regan Comis, representing Nevada Judges of Limited Jurisdiction
Steve Yeager, representing Clark County Public Defender's Office
Sean B. Sullivan, representing Washoe County Public Defender's Office
Kristin Erickson, representing Nevada District Attorneys Association
Brett Kandt, Special Deputy Attorney General, Office of the Attorney General
Mitchell Langberg, Private Citizen, Los Angeles, California
Allen Lichtenstein, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada
John L. Smith, representing *Las Vegas Review-Journal*
Trevor Hayes, representing Nevada Press Association
Joseph Guild, representing Motion Picture Association of America
Melissa Patack, Vice President and Senior Counsel, Motion Picture Association of America
Marc Randazza, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada
Ron Green, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada
Theresa Haar, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada
Joe Johnson, representing Toiyabe Chapter, Sierra Club
Anne Macquarie, Private Citizen, Carson City, Nevada
John Mehaffey, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada
Heather Snedeker, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada
Homa Woodrum, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada
Ed Uehling, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada

Chairman Hansen:

[The roll was called and Committee protocol explained.] We have three bills on the docket for today. We are going to start with Senate Bill 129 (1st Reprint).

Senate Bill 129 (1st Reprint): Limits civil liability of certain persons for injuries or death resulting from certain equine activities. (BDR 3-611)

Senator Pete Goicoechea, Senate District No. 19:

Good morning, Chairman Hansen and members of the Committee. It is good to be back on the Assembly side where I served with several of you. I am here to bring you Senate Bill 129 (1st Reprint) this morning. This bill was very well vetted and amended on the Senate side. Senate Bill 129 (1st Reprint) is what is known as the equine liabilities bill. It provides some protection for those people who are engaged in equine activities. If this bill is passed, Nevada will become the forty-seventh state with an equine liabilities law. It is hard to believe that Maryland, New Hampshire, and Nevada are the states without an equine liabilities law. We are in the West, and horses are second nature to us. I do not know if the Chairman would like for me to walk through the bill. It is fairly basic and was very well vetted with the trial attorneys. We did reach a consensus in the Senate, and it was amended to the bill it is today.

We think there are protections in the bill for the equine owner. There were a couple of pieces we were concerned about. If you have a horse in your backyard and you have a secure fence, this helps with liability. In case the neighbor's child happened to crawl in that fence getting by your horse, it removes some of the liability. You have to know it is a nuisance in order for you to not be covered under this law.

The other piece of the bill clearly states that if you are at an equine event, have indulged in alcoholic beverages, and you are riding intoxicated at the event, this does not grant you immunity. If you are negligent, you are not immune under this bill. I think we have touched on all of the pieces of it to ensure that it is a good bill. However, if you are negligent, this will not provide you with immunity. Under normal conditions, it will grant you a level of immunity for owning, maintaining, or using an equine at an event.

Assemblyman Nelson:

I like your bill, Senator. As defined, equine does not include burros. At least I do not see it in the bill. I see horse, pony, mule, hinny, or donkey. By the way, I looked up hinny and now I know what that is.

Senator Goicoechea:

A hinny is a cross-bred animal. Technically a donkey is a burro.

Assemblyman Trowbridge:

At one time, I was responsible for a couple of arenas. One thing that always came up was the condition of the arena itself, such as the flooring. Does this eliminate the liability for a public agency that may be utilizing fairgrounds or a horse arena? One weekend it might be used for one type of activity whereas the next weekend it may be used for another. I am not a horseman, but people argue the preparation of the arena floor is a big deal.

Senator Goicoechea:

Yes, and you will see it in section 1, subsection 5(d) where it says, "'Inherent risk of an equine activity' means a danger or condition that is an essential part of an equine activity, including, without limitation:... (3) A hazardous surface or subsurface or other hazardous condition'." That is part of it; it is something you have in these conditions. There is sometimes an unpredictable reaction of equines to loud noises. These are all things that are part of the bill, and it does not automatically make you liable. This is probably the third time that we have brought this bill forward.

Chairman Hansen:

Is this similar to the bill that Assemblyman Munford has brought over the years?

Senator Goicoechea:

Assemblyman Munford and I carried the same bill last session.

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

I have seen this bill before, and I am glad you have reached a consensus on it. I am a big believer in equal justice under the law. I do not want to be a "neigh-sayer," but under this bill, will quarter horses and Appaloosas receive the same level of immunity? I would not want inequality under the law.

Senator Goicoechea:

Yes, everyone is treated the same. Anytime you are putting a hinny, a donkey, and a horse on the same level, it is equal.

Henry Krenka, President, Nevada Outfitters and Guides Association:

I have been in business for over 30 years, and I am a fourth generation resident of Ruby Valley. I will provide you with a little bit of history on this bill. The Nevada Outfitters and Guides Association is asking the Legislature to enact an equine activity liability statute for Nevada. We first became aware of such laws through our insurance companies when we applied for liability insurance.

One of the questions we were always asked was if Nevada had an equine activity liability law. Through research, we learned what an equine activity liability law was and that Nevada is one of five states that does not have such a law.

The goal of this law is to further define the duties of the equine owner, sponsor, or professional to the public. The laws also provide the equine owner, sponsor, or professional some protection from possible civil liabilities arising from the inherent danger of an equine activity. The laws are not only useful in defending a lawsuit, but they may deter the filing of one as well.

The key feature of these laws is that an owner, sponsor, or professional is not liable for an injury that is the result of an inherent risk of equine activities. The potential risks are amended in S.B. 129 (R1) as are the areas where an equine owner, sponsor, or professional would be immune from civil liability under the statute. The Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) has taken the Montana law and has done an excellent job in drafting a bill catered to Nevada. Two-thirds of the states where such law exists require notice included in the contract or signs posted to the public. The master guides are required to have contracts with their clients, and we will advise our members to include notice of this law in those contracts even without the specific requirements, if the law is enacted.

Mitch Buzzetti, Private Citizen, Lamoille, Nevada:

I would like to thank the Committee for your time today. I think this is a really good bill. I am a horse owner and a guide who takes people into the mountains on horseback. This bill gives me some protection as a responsible horse owner. I would like to see this bill passed.

Walt Gardner, Private Citizen, Ruby Valley, Nevada:

I would like to thank you for hearing this bill. I am in support of the bill. As a rancher, I am nervous when people are around our property. Kids are unpredictable, just as horses are. I do not want to be liable for some kid who may run up behind my horse when I have no control over him. At the same time, it would become my responsibility if the horse were to injure him. I think this bill covers that.

Danny Riddle, Private Citizen, Ruby Valley, Nevada:

I lived in Las Vegas for 40 years. As a retired certified public accountant, I am spending my golden years subguiding and working as a backcountry horseman. I would hate to lose everything I own just because I have mules. I would like for you to pass this bill.

Chairman Hansen:

In front of us are four people who literally spend their lives in the backcountry of Nevada. They have more real-life, on-the-ground experience with wildlife than probably anybody you will meet in Nevada. When I have an opportunity to have four top-notch guides who spend all of these years in the backcountry, it is a unique thing. Being the Chairman of this Committee, I am going to take some liberties to ask you an off-topic question. What is going on with the deer herd?

Walt Gardner:

The deer herd in Area 10 has been decimated. It is the lowest that I have ever seen it, and success is the lowest it has ever been. We are killing fawns and bucks that are not mature. If it was any other kind of animal such as sheep, lions, or bears, and 30 percent of the animals being killed were not mature, we would close the season. What the Department of Wildlife's (NDOW) Fisheries and Game Divisions have has done is disgraceful.

Chairman Hansen:

What about the predator situation?

Walt Gardner:

The predators are rampant. They are running us over, and they are out of control.

Danny Riddle:

Ditto.

Henry Krenka:

I also would like to mention that I have taken a poll of the members in the state. There are 40 members of the association, and not one of them in the last five years has seen an increase in any deer herd in Nevada.

Mitch Buzzetti:

We have struggled with our mule deer herds, especially in northeastern Nevada. I sit on the local advisory board for NDOW in Elko County. It is tough when people come to our local meetings and ask to cut the tag issuance. However, on the state level, we have to deal with the Board of Wildlife Commissioners. Many times we do not get the same recommendation from the state that we got from the locals. It is sometimes hard to go back to those individuals to explain why. When we see the decrease in deer numbers or the increase in

predators, it can be kind of difficult. The hard part of it is that it goes from extremes. It goes from one extreme where we give an overabundance of tags to the other extreme where we have a tough time maintaining a low number of tags. It is frustrating sometimes.

Assemblyman Jones:

You mentioned what the NDOW Fisheries and Game Divisions are doing is not very good. You also mentioned deer tag and predators. Can you quickly frame what the issue is?

Walt Gardner:

In my mind, we have way too many predators, and we are not handling them. They are out of control. At the same time, we are issuing way too many tags for the number of deer we have. Between the two, it is decimating the herd.

Chairman Hansen:

Walt Gardner actually lives in Ruby Valley. The Ruby Range traditionally has had the highest number of big game species of any mountain range in Nevada. Typically, it is one-third of the herd for the entire state. When these guys who live there speak, it carries some weight with me.

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

I served with my late colleague, Assemblyman Jerry Claborn. He was Chairman of the Assembly Committee on Natural Resources, Agriculture, and Mining. The mule deer herd issue was very important to him. When I served with him on that committee, the big predation issue was the mountain lions. I understand there is now an issue with wolves. I wonder if any of the witnesses could testify about how bad the wolf problem is getting, or is it primarily just the cougars?

Walt Gardner:

The lions are an issue. The wolves have been spotted, but they are not an issue yet. They will be a huge issue in the future. Coyotes are the biggest issue currently. In sheer numbers, they are taking more deer than the lions are.

Assemblyman Trowbridge:

I know where you stand on the issue. I would like to get back to the topic of the bill and my prior question about the preparation of the surface. Does this bill provide any protection for the owner or operator of the facility? This provides protection against people that get hurt. We used to have shows where people would bring in their \$5 million show animal. They would always

threaten that if their horse came up lame because the surface was not prepared correctly, they would sue. Does this provide any protection from lawsuits by the owner of the animal?

Henry Krenka:

Yes, it does. In section 1, subsection 5(b)(1) it says "Shows, fairs, competitions, performances, parades, rodeos, cutting events, polo matches, steeplechases, endurance rides, trail rides or packing or hunting trips."

Assemblyman Trowbridge:

That seems to address the activities that they are involved in. What if someone's horse comes up lame because there were rocks in the area?

Henry Krenka:

Section 1, subsection 3(c) says, "Owns, leases, rents or is otherwise in lawful possession and control of the property or facility where the injury or death occurred if the injury or death was the result of a dangerous latent condition that was known or should have been known to the person."

Assemblyman Trowbridge:

It is a great bill that needs to be in place. Maybe next year we will have to include the animals. I am not going to make an issue of it.

Chairman Hansen:

Thank you for your testimony this morning, gentlemen. I apologize if I took you off topic a little bit. Is there anyone else who would like to testify in favor of S.B. 129 (R1)?

Alex Tanchek, representing Nevada Cattlemen's Association:

I am here on behalf of Neena Laxalt representing the Nevada Cattlemen's Association. The Nevada Cattlemen's Association wants to be on record as being in support of S.B. 129 (R1).

Chairman Hansen:

Is there anyone else who would like to testify in support? [There was no one.] Is there anyone in opposition or in the neutral position? Seeing no one, we will close the hearing on Senate Bill 129 (1st Reprint), and we will open up the hearing on Senate Bill 449.

Senate Bill 449: Revises provisions governing the Advisory Commission on the Administration of Justice. (BDR 14-1140)

Senator Greg Brower, Senate District No. 15:

It is a privilege to be back before the Assembly Committee on Judiciary. Senate Bill 449 is a very simple bill which addresses an advisory commission that I am sure many of you are familiar with. The Advisory Commission on the Administration of Justice deals with the administration of justice. This Commission meets every interim and studies a wide range of criminal justice issues. This bill would simply change the governing statute in two ways. First, it would add an additional member, specifically a municipal judge or justice of the peace appointed by the governing body of the Nevada Judges of Limited Jurisdiction. In my view as a veteran of the Commission, this has been a missing piece. I have spoken with a couple of justices of the peace who have expressed an interest in participating in the Commission, and the consensus seems that it would be a welcome addition. That is the first change.

The second change is found in section 2 of the bill. That change would simply require that during the next interim the Commission study the issue of the parole system of our state. This is an issue that has been kicking around for a while and is something that I have been involved with. I think it is time to take a very serious look at our parole system and whether it works, whether it should exist, et cetera. As many of the Committee members may know, many states and the federal system have done away with parole. They have gone to a determinant type of sentencing whereby defendants are sentenced to a number of months of probation, depending on the nature of the offense, and actually serve that number of months. In the federal system, they may get up to 10 percent good-time credit on the back end.

This bill would require the Commission to study the issue and look into whether or not such a change in Nevada might make sense and, ultimately, whether a bill should be introduced during the next legislative session.

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

How do you see the role of the Advisory Commission on the Administration of Justice changing with the new appellate court and possibly using two Supreme Court justices? Do you think they will be able to take on all of the issues they have taken on in the past? Do you think they may have more time and more energy to look at other issues in terms of trying to improve our criminal justice system?

Senator Brower:

My answer would be yes. I am not sure if anyone on this Committee has served on the Commission. Wesley Duncan and Jason Frierson, former members of this Committee, served on the Commission. It is a very busy commission with a wide range of issues. It is incumbent upon the chair of the Commission to do his or her best to rein in the scope and focus on the issues that are most pressing in a given interim period. Your question is a great one. There is always the possibility that the Commission looks at too much. As a result, they may not have enough time to focus appropriately on anything. That is a challenge. The parole system, in light of some recent events and trends around the country, really deserves a careful study. That is what this bill proposes.

Chairman Hansen:

There are 17 members on the Commission. When you get commissions that are that large trying to get a consensus, it is often very difficult to give everyone an opportunity for discussion. Is 17 members too many? You have served on the Commission. Do you think that is an appropriate number, or should it be decreased?

Senator Brower:

That is another great question. I would say that the number works. It sounds like a large number, but in practice, it has not been a problem. We did look at considering the possibility of adding a judge from a court of unlimited jurisdiction. We looked the rest of the list with an eye toward eliminating one or more of the other positions. Quite frankly, they all make sense. We do not have two of anything except legislators, in which case, we have four. We have two members of the Senate and two members of the Assembly. I think we would all agree that is important because we want one member of each party from each body. When you go through the rest of the list, there is really no surplus there. We have considered this factor, and we think that 18 members can work.

Chairman Hansen:

Is there anyone else who would like to testify in favor of S.B. 449?

Regan Comis, representing Nevada Judges of Limited Jurisdiction:

We would just like to say on the record that we would appreciate the opportunity to serve on the Commission.

Steve Yeager, representing Clark County Public Defender's Office:

We are in support of S.B. 449. I look forward to offering my services and input in any way that would help the Commission in the interim.

Sean B. Sullivan, representing Washoe County Public Defender's Office:

I want to be on the record showing the Washoe County Public Defender's Office also supports S.B. 449.

Kristin Erickson, representing Nevada District Attorneys Association:

We are in support of any efforts to improve the criminal justice system. We support this bill.

Brett Kandt, Special Deputy Attorney General, Office of the Attorney General:

On behalf of Attorney General Adam Laxalt who also sits on the Commission, I want to express support for this bill.

Chairman Hansen:

Seeing no further testimony in support, is there anyone who would like to testify in opposition or in the neutral position? Seeing none, we will close the hearing on S.B. 449 and open up the hearing on Senate Bill 444 (1st Reprint).

Senate Bill 444 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing civil actions. (BDR 3-1137)

Senator Greg Brower, Senate District No. 15:

It is a pleasure to be here once again to present Senate Bill 444 (1st Reprint). While this is not my own personal bill per se, it was introduced by the Senate Committee on Judiciary, which I chair, and was unanimously approved by that committee. Therefore, I felt compelled to provide introductory remarks.

In addition, I am also here to try to bring some sanity to the debate about this bill. I certainly respect everyone's right to have and to express an opinion about the important matters we take up here in the Legislature, especially bills like this one which implicates the First Amendment. I have been a little surprised by the exaggerated rhetoric that I have seen about this bill. Please know that I, and each member of the Senate Judiciary Committee, care as much about the First Amendment as anyone else in this room. However, there must be a balance.

This is a reasonable bill that would bring Nevada back into the mainstream with respect to important legislation against strategic lawsuits against public participation (SLAPP). These are the facts. First, let us understand that only about half the states even have an anti-SLAPP statute on the books. Nevada has had an anti-SLAPP statute since 1997. I think it is important that we do. Until 2013, when our current statute was changed, it seemed to work pretty well. Our statute was in what we might call the mainstream of anti-SLAPP statutes from around the country. It was not as narrow as most

state's statutes in that it did not require the speech in question to be related to a citizen's right to petition only the government. Also, it was not as broad as a small minority of states whose statutes allow virtually any type of speech to be subject to special protections of the anti-SLAPP statute.

I would submit that ours was sort of in-between and was a very balanced approach. That balance was upset with the change to our statute in 2013. I have to admit to the Committee, what the change brought about in 2013 sort of snuck in under the radar. I think we all know that this happens from time to time. Although I, and a few others on the Senate side, had some discomfort with the 2013 bill, Senate Bill No. 286 of the 77th Session, the opposition was not very strong. None of us are experts in the area, and so the bill was passed without much discussion. Since that time, real experts in this area of the law have had a chance to review the 2013 law and have convinced me and all of the members of the Senate. Although some may now have some reservations, this bill passed 21 to 0 in the Senate.

We were all convinced that the 2013 legislation went a little too far for those who seek justice in the courts when someone has maligned their personal or business reputation by making false and defamatory statements. Nevada's current anti-SLAPP statute substantially infringes on their First Amendment rights. Senate Bill 444 (1st Reprint) is intended to ensure that citizens who speak out on important matters of public concern will have a swift and powerful mechanism to dispose of meritless lawsuits that seek to do nothing more than intimidate and quash such speech. At the same time, S.B. 444 (R1) is also intended that persons in businesses, large and small, who have suffered from false and defamatory accusations and who have evidence to support their defamation claim, will be afforded their constitutional right to a day in court where a jury of their peers can decide the facts. Let me be clear. Under S.B. 444 (R1), defendants accused of defamation will still have all of the constitutional rights and protections afforded by landmark U.S. Supreme Court precedent, like in the case of *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254 (1964). Mr. Chairman, before I turn it over to a real expert in this area of the law to talk more about the bill and walk the Committee through the bill and answer the Committee's questions, let me share just one example of what I would submit has been the kind of overreaction that I mentioned earlier.

Yesterday, one of Nevada's newspapers of record published an editorial with a particularly egregious misrepresentation regarding this bill. It read, "SB444 would amend Nevada's anti-SLAPP law by erasing the provision that provides defendants with penalty compensation; by shifting the burden of proof to defendants and requiring them to show a plaintiff's claims are false...." This is simply not true. I would submit to you and the Committee to do your best to

keep your collective eye on the ball. Look at the bill, understand the bill, and know what the bill does and what the bill does not do. In cases where the anti-SLAPP statute would apply, under this bill, the plaintiff alleging defamation would be required to present admissible evidence that the challenged speech is false in order to proceed to trial with the case.

As I have acknowledged, I am not an expert in this very specialized area of the law. Therefore, I want to introduce Mr. Mitch Langberg, a real expert in this area. He has litigated dozens of defamation cases, maybe hundreds, on behalf of plaintiffs, defendants, individuals, small businesses, and large corporations. His clients have included a wide range of business clients including the *Las Vegas Sun*. He was one of the first to notice the flaws in the 2013 statute, and he played a central role in drafting this bill. He is here today to explain the bill in detail and answer questions. With that, I will rest for now. Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the Committee hearing the bill.

Mitchell Langberg, Private Citizen, Los Angeles, California:

I appreciate the time that you have spent trying to learn these issues. Although I know time is limited, I would like to digress. I am a full supporter of every single aspect of the First Amendment. Even my eight- and ten-year-old daughters search my name on the Internet every week to see what they find. They will see that the chief opponent of this bill has called me names that would get me thrown out of here, if repeated. Then I have to explain to my daughters why somebody would do such a thing. I support his right to do that. I support people exercising their First Amendment rights to review and to make truthfully factual statements in criticism of others. I also support the First Amendment for people to exercise their right to petition and to come to the courts to address grievances.

Before talking about the specifics of S.B. 444 (R1), I think the most important thing to do is to address some aspects of the opposition because they are simply not true. First and foremost, the opposition will tell you that to pass S.B. 444 (R1) will be to deprive Nevada citizens of their First Amendment rights; it will eviscerate the First Amendment in Nevada. I find this to be a curious allegation for several reasons. First, the opposition in 2013 said that the new statute that exists today was based substantially on the anti-SLAPP statutes in Washington and California. Many, if not most, of the changes we propose are also borrowed from Washington and California. If this statute is one that eviscerates the First Amendment, the statutes that the current statute was based on also does. As Senator Brower said, about half of the states provide no First Amendment rights because there is no SLAPP statute or at least one that does not protect speech.

When I say we borrow from Washington's and California's statutes, in the anti-SLAPP context, Washington only protects speeches or matters of public concern, and not public interest. This is something that was added by the now-opposition last term. Washington's statute allows a court to grant limited specified discovery in an appropriate case during the SLAPP process. Our current statute does not, and it was intentionally eliminated, even though courts across the country have said that the right to discovery is fundamental to access to the courts and therefore fundamental to the First Amendment right to petition. The California statute only requires a plaintiff to demonstrate prima facie evidence of their claim. That is what we do to ensure there is not a frivolous lawsuit that goes forward. However, the opposition last session demanded clear and convincing evidence. The California statute, which we borrowed from, says if a defendant successfully files an anti-SLAPP motion that is granted, he is entitled to attorney fees. There are no additional penalties. However, according to the opposition, our making that change today also deprives people of their First Amendment rights.

The opposition says that if S.B. 444 (R1) is passed, businesses, particularly those in the electronic media industry, will flee Nevada or not come to Nevada. They say clearly that the standards from Washington and California that have been adopted into S.B. 444 (R1) would be insufficient. However, in Washington, where the standard is public concern and not public interest, and where there is limited discovery, Amazon, which is one of the largest review websites on the Internet, has not left to come to Nevada. Avvo, which is a review website for lawyers, and Expedia remain in Washington. In California, where the standard is prima facie evidence and not clear and convincing evidence, Yelp, Google, Facebook, LinkedIn, Twitter, and Epinions all remain in California, subject to that onerous statute that violates the First Amendment. By the way, Ripoff Report is in Arizona, TripAdvisor in Maryland, and Consumer Reports in New York, and are all review sites themselves. Some consumer review sites are in states where the anti-SLAPP statute does not protect speech on public concern at all, but only petitioning activity. The sky is not falling; and by the way, New York, where they do not have a SLAPP statute that applies to speech at all, is the media, news, and publishing capitol of the world. When the media representatives say that this statute is somehow onerous, we should remember that this bill is one that protects and gives an early remedy for people who exercise their First Amendment right of free speech on matters of public concern to get rid of frivolous lawsuits.

The constitutional implications are important, but there has to be a constitutional balance. We cannot focus on only one constitutional right. The First Amendment not only protects the right of free speech, but it protects the right to petition. The Seventh Amendment gives the right to

a jury trial in issues of law. The *Nevada Constitution*, Article 1, Section 9, recognizes the constitutional right of free speech for Nevada citizens and also says that those citizens must be responsible for the abuse of that right. To deprive a plaintiff with a legitimate defamation claim access to the courts is also to deprive him of his right to protect his reputation under the *Nevada Constitution*.

Why does the current statute go too far? The current statute goes too far because the person is speaking on merely a matter of public interest, not necessarily a matter of public concern, which is one that has political, social, or other community interest at large. In Nevada currently, if there is a matter of public interest, it may be just mere curiosity. Let us assume that somebody knowingly makes a false statement of fact. He will be able to implicate the anti-SLAPP statute. A plaintiff who is seeking to defend his reputation is going to have to prove, in less than seven days, by clear and convincing evidence, every single element of his claim including that the statement is defamatory, false, and in some cases, the defendant knew or had serious doubt about truth at the time the statement was made. While I am familiar with this and I swim in this water all the time, this concept is incredible to me. How can any plaintiff prove the subjective knowledge and intent of a defendant by clear and convincing evidence with no discovery within seven days, unless a defendant has somehow admitted it?

The real question here is, as a matter of policy, do we allow people whose reputations have been maligned by significant false and defamatory statements to have a remedy to repair their reputation? We are not talking about big corporations alone. As a matter of fact, for big corporations, the anti-SLAPP statute is not nearly the disincentive as it is to individuals and small business owners. Because of the incredible penalties under the anti-SLAPP statute and the fact that the burdens are so high, they will have to consider whether or not to defend their reputation and are willing to risk losing their homes, retirement, and savings to do so. If they do not prove their case, they will be subject to attorney fees, penalties, and a separate suit.

A few years ago, I lectured at the local branch of the Association of Corporate Counsel. Despite what you might read, although I live in California, I am a member of the State Bar of Nevada. I have lived here for six years, and a third of my cases are in Nevada. I honestly wish I still lived here. I have a great passion for this subject. I was speaking to the Association of Corporate Counsel, and the lecture was on protecting reputations on the Internet badlands. Basically, what we now know is there is another side to these review sites, which are important and legitimate places to speak one's opinions. Disgruntled employees, former employees, and competitors are using these sites to put up

false reviews that are devastating. There is no way to get these websites to take down the false statements. It is protected under the Communications Decency Act. The fact of the matter is people rely on them. If somebody is looking for a doctor, they go to Yelp. Let us say there are three doctors on there, and for one doctor, there is a completely fabricated allegation of malpractice. The potential patient will not investigate if it is true. The potential patient will go on to one of the other doctors listed rather than take the risk. I am receiving calls from people every day throughout the country having to do with the attacks they deal with on the Internet. There needs to be a remedy.

People speak on legitimate matters of public concern, which includes reviewing goods and services under Nevada law. It is a matter of public concern. They should have their rights too. If a plaintiff is going to come and say that someone speaking on a matter of public concern has defamed him, that plaintiff should be put to the task of showing he has prima facie evidence that the statement was defamatory and false. Our bill does other things to revise this, but these are the main points of concerns. I am happy to answer any questions.

Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:

I want to thank you for coming by to help me get through this bill and understand it. It has been a real crash course in the First Amendment and the defamation law. I want to point out that we are academically lucky to have this discussion because it is an interesting area of law. I think we will hear from some very good lawyers, including yourself.

I want to get into the definition of public concern because I think it is a critical piece of this. For better or for worse, we have to talk about it. You sent me some documents yesterday. One of the issues you included was the definition from Washington trying to define what a public concern is. Washington defines it as social, political, et cetera. I am wondering if that definition would be a little bit more inclusive. If the defendant cannot show in their SLAPP motion that it is based on an issue of public concern, the plaintiff could be entitled to attorney fees. With those two elements working together, I think we have to be very careful. I am worried that if the definition is not inclusive enough, it could discourage these motions because people would be on the hook for attorney fees.

Looking at Washington's definition and looking at our definition in section 4, do you think that Washington's definition is a bit more inclusive? It appears to me like it is a little bit broader. Say we have a casino, and someone is concerned about labor policies and how employees are being treated. To me, the Washington definition would protect someone who is speaking out about

employment practices because it fits the social definition. However, under section 4 of the bill, it might be a more general interest definition and it might be excluded. Does that make sense?

Mitchell Langberg:

I understand the question, and it makes sense. I will disagree, however. It feels like this is moot court for a moment. The concept of what is a matter of public concern is well defined in cases both federally and at the state level. I pointed out the Washington case because it had a wonderful discussion about matters of public concern are different than matters of public interest. I think under S.B. 444 (R1), the labor dispute at a casino would clearly fall under a matter of public concern. Let me make a distinction that would apply under S.B. 444 (R1). No matter what we do, there is going to be debate in individual cases, and courts are going to have to decide. A labor dispute or a comment about an employer's employment practices in this community, particularly under *Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.*, 118 Nev. 706, 57 P.3d 82 (Nev. 2002), would be matters of public concern. Perhaps an employment dispute that is about specifics such as, my company says I was drinking on the job and I was not, is not one of general public concern, but rather one of a personal, private interest. Under Washington's definition and the one covered by S.B. 444 (R1), it might be different. I do not think it is difficult to parse out what standards there are. There may be some very marginal calls if the standard of public interest is the California standard. There is a great deal of debate about what public interest is. No one is ever going to agree at the line. There are federal cases, particularly out of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Tenth and Second Circuits, which talk about public employees and when they have a First Amendment right to speak freely and when they do not. The standard is the government can impinge on First Amendment rights depending on whether someone is speaking on a matter of public concern versus private concern. We adopted that, and it is where the second part of the definition comes from.

Chairman Hansen:

Before we go on to further questions, I would like to make it clear that I am going to allow testimony until 9:30 a.m. from the proponents. I will then allow about 45 minutes for the opponents. I just wanted to make sure that you get the people up to testify that you want, Senator Brower. If there are other experts that you intend to have testify, I want to make sure that we can coordinate that correctly. Some of these questions are obviously going to be quite detailed with legalese.

Senator Brower:

Thank you for that reminder; we are cognizant of that. Your question is an excellent one, Assemblyman Anderson. When we started talking about drafting the bill, this issue probably generated the most concern and discussion on my part. With all things considered, this is what we came up with. We had an eye towards coming up with not the best bill for a potential plaintiff, not the best bill for a potential defendant, but the most balanced bill that would work for this type of litigation in the public interest for Nevadans. I think your question is right on target, but we think this is about as good as it gets.

Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:

Can you talk about the attorney fees in section 6? As I understand the bill, the defendant would be the moving party. They would move an anti-SLAPP motion and would have the burden to show that it is a matter of public concern. If they cannot, it would lead to attorney fees if there is no reasonable basis found. I am worried about that because the whole idea of a SLAPP motion is to protect litigants that do not have a ton of money. They may be going against someone with deep pockets. Do those folks with deep pockets need those attorney fees? Many times they have folks on staff. I worry that it is a fundamental shift from the idea of an anti-SLAPP motion to protect those smaller litigants. Can you comment on that?

Mitchell Langberg:

Your question is a good one, but it has a false premise. The belief is that defamation plaintiffs tend to be the big guys and defamation defendants tend to be the little guys. If you search Nevada law, you will see that some of our lead cases are public officials or mom-and-pop restaurants that are suing for defamation because they have been financially devastated by the things that have been said about them. If a defendant wins the anti-SLAPP motion, that defendant automatically gets his reasonable attorney fees with no showing of bad faith. If a plaintiff defeats the SLAPP motion, that plaintiff gets his attorney fees only on a showing of bad faith. Remember that plaintiff is also exercising his First Amendment right to petition. Part of my job is difficult because people say First Amendment and everybody thinks free speech. This is a free-speech-protecting statute beyond three-quarters of the states and equal to the rest. The point is that there has to be a remedy. The whole concept behind SLAPP-backs in the current statute recognizes that there are people who will file an anti-SLAPP motion to try to intimidate and financially pressure a plaintiff. There needs to be that remedy, which requires a showing of bad faith.

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

This is a particular concern to me because back in 1997, Assembly Bill No. 485 of the 69th Legislative Session was sponsored by an assemblywoman from Clark County named Genie Ohrenschall. Therefore, she was the sponsor of this law in its original form. She is still very concerned about it, and I have a couple of questions to ask.

The bill shows text to be omitted from *Nevada Revised Statutes* (NRS) 41.670. That is the chapter that has the penalties for a frivolous or vexatious lawsuit for up to \$10,000. Why is that not adequate if someone is trying to abuse the SLAPP process?

Mitchell Langberg:

The body of S.B. 444 (R1) provides that when a defendant prevails on an anti-SLAPP motion, he is going to be awarded all of his attorney fees. It is the same provision that exists in California, which was one of the alleged models for the bill last term. I appreciate the reference to the statute that preceded last term's statute. It was a good statute and was with the majority of anti-SLAPP statutes. This improves upon it because it expands the First Amendment rights that are covered by the anti-SLAPP statute from that old version.

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

In section 5 of the bill, we are changing the time periods. Let us say that I am an irate consumer who stands outside of Bob's Used Cars, and I am holding a sign that says "Bob's Used Cars sells lemons. Never buy a car here." Let us say that I do that every day. On January 1, I get served with a defamation suit. Under the old law, I would have 60 days to get an attorney and figure out if a SLAPP suit is warranted with the attorney. However, under the new law, you are shortening it to 20 days.

Mitchell Langberg:

Under old law, you mean current law right?

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

Under the proposed bill, we are truncating it to 20 days. There are a lot of unsophisticated people who do not have in-house counsel and do not know much about law. It might be that person standing outside of Bob's Used Cars who is worked up and scared who may spend 20 days just trying to figure out which attorney is competent to practice in this area. I wonder if that is wise.

Mitchell Langberg:

There is a missing premise there. Anti-SLAPP motion or not, for a defamation case, contract case, fraud case, or negligence case, that person needs to find an attorney within 20 days because in Nevada, an answer and/or motion to dismiss is due within 20 days.

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

That is correct. However, finding an attorney and determining the merits of the case and whether a SLAPP motion is warranted are different things.

Mitchell Langberg:

I do agree with that, and the court is allowed to extend it. As a matter of routine, people stipulate to extend motions to dismiss. You will note that in the first instance, the only part of the anti-SLAPP motion is showing that the anti-SLAPP statute applies because it is a matter of speech on a public concern. All of the other issues about the merits of the case are deferred. Honestly, what is required in the first part of the anti-SLAPP motion is much less complicated and takes much less time than a motion to dismiss. With that said, somebody is going to have to find an attorney within 20 days or get an extension to answer or motion. They can do the same thing with regard to the single issue on the anti-SLAPP.

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

Regarding the argument that seven days is not enough time, and going back to the hypothetical situation of me standing outside of Bob's Used Cars from Christmas to New Year's Day with the sign about Bob selling lemons. Let us say that June 1 of the following year, I get served with the lawsuit. There is a two-year statute of limitations from the time the alleged defamation occurred. Bob's Used Cars would have had two years to sue me. In this hypothetical, they waited six months before serving me with a defamation suit. Is it really too much to ask that Bob defend himself within seven days? He has had six months, and he could have had up to two years to file the defamation suit, feeling that he had been injured by my actions. Is it unreasonable to ask for a reply within seven days? Would 14 or 21 days be a reasonable answer?

Mitchell Langberg:

It would be unreasonable. Once again, you are assuming that the plaintiff has an attorney on retainer or an in-house counselor.

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

I am not assuming he has an in-house counsel. He does have an attorney because he sued me. I am the alleged defamer, and he is the alleged victim.

Mitchell Langberg:

Eventually he has an attorney. The point is that at the time he realized he has been defamed, unless he is sophisticated, he may not recognize he has been defamed. Even if he does, he has to go and get an attorney. He may not know that until close to the statute of limitations is up. More realistically, in my experience, particularly with small businesses and individuals, the damage that is being incurred can be so substantial that there is no time to wait. As soon as the defamation is posted, as in a case where someone is intentionally making a false statement, you need to take action. You need to file your claim, get it out in the public record, and your sole goal is to be vindicated by a jury. You want to get there as quickly as you can. That seven days can be very onerous. What it sometimes takes is to make a showing of falsity by clear and convincing evidence. To prove a negative by clear and convincing evidence without any discovery and to prove what was in the defendant's mind is an onerous burden.

Assemblyman Nelson:

Thank you, Mr. Langberg, for presenting this bill. You touched upon one of my main concerns with the statute as it is currently written. The plaintiff would have to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim without any discovery at all. You changed it back to preponderance of the evidence. Can you comment why you did that for those who may not know the difference between those standards?

Mitchell Langberg:

We have changed it in S.B. 444 (R1) to prima facie evidence, which is consistent with the California statute. In the current statute, clear and convincing evidence is something short of beyond a reasonable doubt, which is what is used in criminal court. Some courts have said that clear and convincing evidence is evidence that would give you a 70 percent certainty of truth. Preponderance of the evidence is the standard by which most elements in most civil cases are governed. That just means 50 percent plus a feather to tip the scales. In a defamation case, at trial, the plaintiff only needs to show a preponderance of evidence on all of the elements except for a knowledge of falsity case, which needs to be shown by clear and convincing evidence at trial after discovery.

I appreciate the question about prima facie evidence because I believe that it has been misrepresented. Here is what prima facie evidence has been said to be, but is not. Prima facie evidence is not that you just have to allege the fact and the fact is taken as true until the defendant proves otherwise. That is not true. Prima facie evidence is admissible evidence under the rules of evidence that, if believed, would be sufficient to prove the cause of action. The question

becomes if the legislative intent that was expressed last term is to be accepted. This means that we are looking to find a mechanism to dispose of meritless lawsuits at the beginning of a case. The standard must be one that identifies meritless lawsuits but lets through lawsuits that have merit. The universal standard for that is prima facie evidence. It is the summary judgement standard. For the nonlawyers, a summary judgement is a mechanism by which a defendant or a plaintiff can say that there are no issues of fact that are material and in dispute so the court can decide the case. We do not need a jury because juries decide facts. To oppose a summary judgement motion, all you have to do is show that you have prima facie evidence. This is evidence, which if believed, without regard to the other side's evidence, would carry the day. You have to be allowed to get to trial. A standard at the outset of the case that is already placing an extra burden on the right to petition is understandable when talking about the free speech right on issues of public concern. A standard that is in excess of what everyone else has to prove to get to trial at the outset of the case is not only unreasonable, but it does something different. In meritorious cases, it would be dismissed. We can come up with hypothetical after hypothetical cases that we could agree have merit that would be dismissed under the current statute.

Assemblyman Araujo:

I am looking for more clarification, specifically in regard to section 12. The language changed from, "A cause of action against a person who engages in a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern is immune from any civil action for claims based upon the communication." It was changed pretty drastically, to "A cause of action against a person arising from a communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern is subject to a special motion to dismiss, and that motion must be granted by the court unless the plaintiff establishes that the claim is not meritless pursuant to section 8 of this act." I am looking for more clarification as to why we changed it so much. As a follow-up, I want to make sure we are not stripping away rights from folks who genuinely made an accusation in good faith without the intent to harm anyone.

Mitchell Langberg:

Thank you for the question, and thank you for your time yesterday. It is a good question. The truth is that the changes in this section of the bill are to provide clarification and give more rights to a defendant. States that have included the immunity language in their anti-SLAPP statutes did so because there was some question in federal court as to whether the federal court would apply states' anti-SLAPP statutes as substantive rights or procedural matters.

Somebody cleverly decided that using the term "immunity" would make it clear that it was a substantive right. It is confusing; it is not accurate to call it an immunity. It is unnecessary, particularly in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, because the Ninth Circuit has made clear that anti-SLAPP statutes are substantive rights that relate to the substantive right of defamation and other claims that may fall under the anti-SLAPP statute. It is not accurate because an immunity is something that is not dependent on whether or not somebody can make a showing if they have enough evidence. That is not an immunity; it is a burden. Therefore, that is not accurate.

We took out the words "who engages in a good faith." We took that out for the protection of defendants because it is my opinion that if somebody is speaking on a matter of public concern, that should be enough to implicate the anti-SLAPP statute putting the plaintiff to the test of showing prima facie evidence. A defendant should not have to show any evidence about whether he believed what he said was true. We are talking about core First Amendment speech while talking about a public matter of public concern. A plaintiff coming into court should be able to show they have some evidence of falsity. We deleted that in order to recognize what I think is an important policy matter in favor of a defendant's First Amendment rights.

Assemblywoman Diaz:

I am still trying to reconcile what is in the bill and the points you are trying to make. Regarding section 6 and the awarding of attorney fees, you said the initial burden shift requires the showing of bad faith. As I read the section, it speaks to a reasonable basis and not bad faith. Bad faith is discussed in a different section, maybe section 8. Am I wrong?

Mitchell Langberg:

You are not off. In all candor, in practice, I believe that something someone does not have a reasonable basis for is something that is done in bad faith. How do you prove that something has been done in bad faith? By showing there was no reasonable basis. I cannot remember every single word, and I cannot tell you honestly whether it was an oversight or whether it was a matter of intent using different terms that are the corollaries of each other, but I think it has the same effect.

Senator Brower:

That is an excellent question, and I was thinking the same thing when I was reading the bill again during this hearing. I think Mr. Langberg is right. Perhaps further clarification or the use of different language might make the bill clearer.

However, with respect to other context, such as Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in the civil litigation context, or Hyde Amendment (1997) claims in the federal criminal context, generally bad faith is equated to without reasonable basis. It is an excellent point to raise.

Assemblyman Jones:

I have to confess, this bill is an example of third-year law school. There are so many issues that it could take a week of going back and forth. I am a lawyer myself, although not practicing in Nevada. It is unbelievable how many issues you have in this bill. They are all so technical and so specific that it could take years of analysis. My head is swimming looking at this bill, and I am a lawyer. I can imagine how the nonlawyers must feel. Rather than go further into the weeds, I would rather look at this from a practical application. What is it doing in the real world from a practical application? How is this affecting people? First of all, we had an anti-SLAPP law preventing people from making false statements against others. It lasted for almost 15 years until last session when we had a change. My first question is, what brought about the desire for that change? Why is there now a desire to change it back to shift the burden the other way?

Mitchell Langberg:

The old anti-SLAPP statute that Assemblyman Ohrenschall spoke of was a good idea at the time. Anti-SLAPP statutes were relatively new throughout the country. The original intent of the people who created the idea of the anti-SLAPP statutes was to protect people when they were exercising their First Amendment right to petition only. I can give you a long history, but we will get too far into the weeds. Nevada joined the small minority of states that started to adopt anti-SLAPP statutes. As time went on, anti-SLAPP statutes started to address not only speech that arises from the right to petition but also First Amendment rights that arise from the right of free speech in certain context. Today, that is still the minority of states. If you count the states with no anti-SLAPP statute at all and the ones that only have it for rights of petition, that leaves somewhere near less than a quarter of the states. Contrary to commentary, I feel strongly about the right to free speech. I think it was very important for Nevada to include the right of free speech in the anti-SLAPP statute. The concept of amending the statute last session was a good idea. We took the pendulum from the place where free speech rights were not protected at all, and it has moved to the place where it is too broad and the procedural mechanisms deprive plaintiffs of the right to petition.

During the Senate hearings for this bill, the chief proponent at the time, who is now the chief opponent, was asked directly whether the now-current law would make us like California. He said yes. While there are aspects of the current statute that are like California, we could not be further from California with our anti-SLAPP statute as far as timing, burdens, penalties, et cetera.

Senator Brower:

While this Committee is well aware of our general propensity of not wanting to be like California, I would respectfully submit that on this issue, California has done a pretty good job.

Assemblyman Jones:

I appreciate that, but you are again using a lot of legal terms and jargon that does not communicate on a practical level what the comparison is between the old law, the current law, and the proposed law. You talk about a pendulum, but in practical reality, is this now going to allow rich people to squash the smaller people because they will now have the ability to? Or, did it prevent the rich people before from doing anything because people could do anything they wanted to and they had no rights to protect themselves against slander, et cetera? In a practical way, can you talk in real world language and not all these legal terms?

Mitchell Langberg:

I owe you an apology because you were clear in that part of the question. When we got to the legislative history, I moved off to the stuff that is really technical and interesting to me. As a practical matter, what is the difference between all of these things? I would say we do not need to go back to the original statute because it did not give any extra protection to anyone exercising their First Amendment rights to free speech. Therefore, if somebody big or large wanted to intimidate a potential defendant, there was no remedy there. The idea of the new statute was, if you are going to sue for defamation, you better have some evidence before you start challenging somebody on a matter of public concern or public interest, depending on which statute you are talking about. Basically, if your case is frivolous, we are going to get rid of it early and you will pay attorney fees so you cannot be so intimidating. Both the current statute and S.B. 444 (R1) are designed with that theory. However, the current statute goes too far by not only protecting against such intimidation, but deprives people of the ability to defend their reputations. Focusing on the big, bad bullies is an interesting thing to do because the people who are most harmed by the statute are not the big companies. The people most harmed by the statute are the individuals and small businesses whose reputations are being attacked and have only one forum to get their reputations vindicated having to face potential costs and burdens to do that.

I am going to give you an example of a case where, under the current statute, it would be thrown out, and under S.B. 444 (R1), it would not be thrown out. We are not talking about bullies. The chief opposition will be familiar with this because he was the plaintiff's counsel in this case. There was this revenge porn website. This website was for people who break up with their girlfriends and can post naked pictures in retaliation. There was also an antibullying website. The antibullying website was publicly calling out the revenge porn website guy. The revenge guy started publicly accusing the antibullying guy of being a pedophile and possessing child pornography. As you can imagine, if you are standing up against bullying, the concept that you might be abusing and bullying children into doing inappropriate things is very harmful to your reputation. The attorney for the antibullying guy filed a defamation suit under the original statute. The revenge porn guy did not respond to the complaint, received a default judgement, and the righteous plaintiff was awarded \$250,000.

Let us pretend that same case was filed today. We know that this was a case where the antibullying guy is being knowingly falsely accused of being a pedophile. Today, the revenge porn guy would file an anti-SLAPP motion and say this is a matter of public interest. The guy talks about antibullying and the subject matter of my speech was abuse of children. It could not be more of a public interest and could even be a matter of public concern under our statute. The revenge porn guy would come back and say he has a confidential source who said it was true. Whatever else he says, he lied about the guy and he is now going to lie about his evidence. He now has the anti-SLAPP statute in play. Within seven days, the antibullying guy would have to not only show that he is not a pedophile, but he has to prove by clear and convincing evidence that he is not a pedophile and that the revenge porn guy knew it was false or had serious doubt about the truth at the time. He has to show that by clear and convincing evidence, otherwise the case will be thrown out and he will owe attorney fees plus he can get sued for \$10,000.

Under S.B. 444 (R1), there is a different result. The revenge porn guy is going to say this is a matter of public concern. He will file his anti-SLAPP suit. The antibullying guy is going to put in a declaration showing he is not a pedophile. He is going to get people that know him to testify. He will say there has never been a police complaint about him. He will do whatever else he needs to in order to show that he has at least prima facie evidence of falsity and that it was defamatory. The case will go on, and he will have to show actual malice. All of the constitutional protections that exist will remain in the case. Somebody will argue with me about whether this is how it is going to turn out. I do this a lot, and that is how I think the turnouts would be. We can come up with other examples.

Chairman Hansen:

We are going to move to opposition now, and you will have the opportunity for rebuttal. However, we have 16 people signed up in opposition. I am going to start in southern Nevada.

Allen Lichtenstein, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:

I will keep my comments as brief as possible and try to stay out of the weeds. There were a few interesting points made while listening to the proponents. The first point that I always find interesting is that we are among a minority of states that do not have anti-SLAPP laws. It is true, but Nevada is usually ahead of the curve in terms of protecting rights. The fact that most states do not have this, I do not take as a criticism.

I did not hear about any actual case since 2013 that has created the kinds of horror stories that are being presented. We have had a law in effect that does not cause any problems. Some people do not like the language and think it is too far in one particular direction. No one has pointed to a case that egregious results occurred from. The reason for the 2013 amendments was to broaden the scope of the law, which everyone seems to agree was necessary. However, this is all hypothetical.

The one area that concerns me the most is the actual definition in section 4 about an issue of public concern. It describes an issue of public concern as "any topic that concerns not only the speaker and the speaker's audience, but the general public, and is not merely a subject of curiosity or general interest." Just from the plain language, what does that mean? It means everybody. It means stuff like war and peace, the crash of the economy, a volcano, and things that affect everybody. As legislators, you know that a lot of the important work you do which ultimately affects our community does not directly concern everybody in the community. Regulation of particular industries may have some effect in the long run.

Another concern is that matters of general interest are discarded from what is considered public interest. To me, that sounds awfully condescending to the public. I was sitting here trying to imagine each of you going to town hall meetings and telling your constituents the issues that interest them are not really of public concern. None of you would do that because you would have a negative reaction, and rightfully so. The real question for me is a matter of public interest.

What I also found interesting is the case of revenge porn. Does an instance of revenge porn affect the general public, and is it of general concern? I think when we are talking about "of public interest," we have to have a more

expansive definition there because things that start off seemingly of individual interest may end up being something of very important public interest as we dig deeper. If I saw a blog about problems with a homeowners' association (HOA) back in 2006, it does not affect me because I do not live in an HOA. It does not affect a lot of people. Obviously, it had a great deal of effect on Nevada. I can say the same thing about human trafficking or prime mortgages. My biggest concern is to define things that do not affect the general public directly as being equivalent to a simple person-to-person employment type of argument, such as getting caught drinking on the job. There is a lot of law about that in the area of public employment. The law is pretty clear that it takes a pretty expansive view of what is in the public interest and only limits those particular things that truly are purely personal.

Regarding the case of *Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers Inc.*, about restaurant reviews, if you do not go to that particular restaurant, it is really not going to be of a public interest under this definition. Under the normal definitions of the courts, particularly the Nevada Supreme Court as in this case, it would be defined as a matter of public interest. What we are finding in section 4 is a rather severe truncation of what would be considered a public interest. It is to the extent that this section is even saying what interests the public may not be of public concern because the public does not know what is important to them. That is very troubling.

Chairman Hansen:

Are you representing the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) today?

Allen Lichtenstein:

I am not representing the ACLU. I am here as a private attorney who has represented many of these cases.

Chairman Hansen:

Vanessa Spinazola sent in a letter in opposition to the bill on behalf of the ACLU of Nevada ([Exhibit C](#)). I just wanted to double-check that with you.

John L. Smith, representing *Las Vegas Review-Journal*:

Thank you for letting me testify today. I come before you as a long-time Nevada journalist and author to voice strong opposition to S.B. 444 (R1). It would make critical and deleterious changes to Nevada's anti-SLAPP law. Legal experts will speak to the damage the changes will do to a law that helps provide an essential protection of the free speech rights for all Nevadans, whether you are speaking in a public place, blogging on the Internet, writing a column, or writing an investigative story for a newspaper.

The legislation arises out of the desire of Wynn Resorts and Steve Wynn, its Chairman, to change a law specifically designed to change Nevadans from practitioners of SLAPP litigation and lawsuits meant to silence criticism. Wynn certainly qualifies on that account. Last year, Wynn sued stock trader and analyst James Chanos after a public talk during an investigative journalism conference where Mr. Chanos warned of an ongoing upheaval in the immensely lucrative Macau casino market that has been so good to Wynn Resorts. Mr. Chanos warned that a crackdown on corruption by the Chinese government would likely have a powerful negative impact on casino stocks, and he was right. Remember, Mr. Chanos was appearing at an investigative journalism conference. Associated with the investigative reporting program at the University of California, Berkeley, the Logan Symposium is attended by hundreds of reporters and hosted by legendary investigative journalist Lowell Bergman of *60 Minutes*. Mr. Bergman's investigative unit last year was busy putting the final touches on its lengthy investigation of Macau's casino industry for a *FRONTLINE* documentary that was to air on the Public Broadcasting Service (PBS). Was the lawsuit intended not only to silence Mr. Chanos, but to chill out that investigative documentary? The very reasonable conclusion is, yes it was. Fortunately, a California court twice dismissed Wynn's lawsuit. By the way, you did not miss the *FRONTLINE* documentary; it never aired.

I know from firsthand experience that Steve Wynn is not shy about using the courts as his personal whipping post. Following the 1995 publication of my investigative biography of Steve Wynn called *Running Scared*, he sued me in a court of comfort and convenience in Clark County. He did not sue over the book, which was factual and gave a balanced look at his meteoric rise in the casino business. Instead he sued over a fragment of a sentence printed in a publisher's catalog advertising the book's publication. It was not the book, not even a full sentence in the catalog, but a factual fragment advertising that *Running Scared* would tell why a Scotland Yard report called Wynn an associate of organized crime. The report said that, and the chapter in the book accurately and fairly reflected the report. During the litigation, Wynn showed his vindictiveness by explaining to a reporter that he would "get Smith's house and bankrupt the publisher." Let me tell you, I was worried sick over the litigation even if I could not quite imagine Steve Wynn moving into my three-bedroom, 1300-square-foot starter home. I was eventually dismissed from the lawsuit, but the publisher was forced to pay to defend the remainder of the litigation. When Wynn won what I consider a kangaroo court decision, the publisher was forced to endure bankruptcy reorganization. The lawsuit was thrown out on appeal by the Nevada Supreme Court, so technically, Wynn did not prevail in court. That was not his purpose, however. His purpose was to punish anyone who sought to take a close look at his personal and business history.

Wynn never collected a dime and lost the lawsuit. I will say one thing for him, he managed to inflict a lot of pain on myself and my family, and on my publisher and his family. I am proud to say that *Running Scared* is still in publication after 20 years, but that status did not come without a hell of a fight.

Wynn is not the only powerful Nevadan to claim offense at critical coverage and use the courts to punish a critic. He is far from it. Around these parts, SLAPP litigation is the sport of billionaires. Nevada has one of the nation's best anti-Slapp laws, and anything less is an invitation to bullies to attempt to drive working reporters, bloggers, and anyone else with a critical comment to ruination. In other words, all Nevadans, not just journalists, need this law to remain strong. We have an opportunity to correct a mistake made recently by the state Senate. You can do your fellow Nevadans a tremendous service by stopping misguided S.B. 444 (R1) in its tracks.

Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:

Mr. Lichtenstein, I know you are no longer associated with the ACLU, but I do want to draw on your experience. Can you tell me what you think limited discovery means? That is something that I have some great concern about because discovery can really ratchet up the cost of litigation. It can be used by litigants to abuse other litigants. There are some firms that have entire floors that do discovery requests. I am really concerned about that provision because I can see it being used to ratchet up those costs and bankrupt them even if they technically win the case. What do you think limited discovery means?

Allen Lichtenstein:

As a sole practitioner, I see this all of the time. Large firms will try to paper you to death in order to win the case based on cost. As for limited discovery, I would say the key element there is a question of relevance. It should not be a fishing expedition but to determine things that can be shown to have particular relevance to find particular facts to reach that particular kind of conclusion. We can go off on a particular tangent on how courts tend not to do that, but the idea of limited discovery is important in any kind of preliminary type of procedure such as an anti-SLAPP procedure. I do not think it is necessary to have that type of open-ended discovery, but judges have the ability to limit the discovery to things that are relevant for the particular purpose. In this case, it would be relevant to the anti-SLAPP statute.

Assemblyman Ohrenschall:

Mr. Smith, it was just about a month and an half ago when we had a bill in this Committee having to do with lay justices of the peace. I was informing

fellow Committee members about an excellent justice of the peace that I met as a kid while tagging along with my mother in Clark County. I am talking about Judge Jan Smith and what a great job she did.

My question is for Mr. Lichtenstein. The proposed bill omits text from NRS Chapter 41.670. My question is, are you aware of any hesitancy among our state's judges to impose the fines listed in subsections 2 and 3 of NRS Chapter 41.670 if there is a finding that a party has filed an anti-SLAPP motion with no merit solely in the effort to vex the other party?

Allen Lichtenstein:

I think the answer is going to depend on the judge. I also think that a statement by the Legislature of a very clear intention that these provisions are there to be taken seriously and not just as pro forma would go a long way to avoid those particular problems. Obviously, as we all know, judges have a certain level of independence. However, they also seem to be quite adherent to what they see as legislative intent. Clear legislative intent would be very helpful.

Assemblywoman Diaz:

This question is for Mr. Smith. On a national level, we are seeing that First Amendment rights are being annihilated. People in power basically get to dictate what gets printed in the press. As a reporter, if this law were to move forward, what do you think would be the ripple effect to you and fellow journalists? Would you still be willing to report things that you know can put you in a bad situation, or are you just going to say what you think people are going to want to hear?

John Smith:

A lot of it depends on the institution. My newspaper stands up for not only what I write but also for the staff in general. The institution is always important. There is a case currently pending in which a *Wall Street Journal* reporter has been sued individually by Sheldon Adelson. It was the reporter that was sued and not the newspaper. Folks who follow anti-SLAPP issues are certainly keeping an eye on that. There are challenges everywhere. I think the more you are out on your own as a freelancer, the tougher the job is. There is an expression that we use in our craft called the chilling effect. What happens quite often is even when lawsuits are not filed, when laws change to favor powerful potential plaintiffs, it seems to have a chilling effect on the ability of folks to be aggressive news gatherers, critics, and commentators. Those protections are essential, in my opinion.

Chairman Hansen:

Can I relate to that? The chilling effect of an opinion columnist running for office, Mr. Smith, I think you can appreciate where I am coming from with that. Thank you both for your testimony this morning.

Trevor Hayes, representing Nevada Press Association:

As I testified in a committee yesterday on a different bill, the current state of the press and the business model has changed. Mr. Smith talked about how the *Las Vegas Review-Journal* has stood up for him and its reporters throughout history. I believe that some of the other Nevada papers have done so too. In a time where newspapers are struggling to survive, to ask a newspaper to back one of its reporters to the tune of hundreds of thousands of dollars of litigation costs is a tough thing to ask them to do. You are going to have publishers and editors sitting and talking about the financial cost of writing the story, instead of asking if it is important for the readers, for legislators, for citizens to know. Is it going to be a good story, providing good reporting? It is honest and nondefamatory? Instead, the question is going to turn to how much money is it going to cost us to defend ourselves in a defamation case. Having strong anti-SLAPP laws makes that question a whole lot easier to answer.

Mr. Smith's book was written in 1995. Assemblywoman Genie Ohrenschall drafted the first anti-SLAPP law in 1997. He and his publisher could have gone through a lot less hassle on a case they eventually won had there been a strong anti-SLAPP law in place.

I want to apologize to Senator Brower because we missed this bill when it was being heard on the other side. This is a bill that is one of those solutions searching for a problem. We have heard of no case filed because of this statute that has been in place for two years. If you have read anything in the last week on this bill, everyone from bloggers to libertarian groups like *Reason* magazine to general interest newspapers in every corner of our state and others have stood up to say the anti-SLAPP law we have in place currently is a great law that protects free speech.

Mr. Langberg pointed out certain things in S.B. 444 (R1) that exist in other states. He did not point out a state that has all of those things. He said it is not a problem to have the prima facie standard that California has. It is not a problem to have the public concern that Washington has. It is not a problem to have the lack of penalties that this or other states have. Basically, there are bad parts to these other states' laws and no state, until Nevada, has tried to put

together all these bad things into one bill. Let us not do that. We have the best anti-SLAPP law in the country, or close to it. We have taken the good parts from other states. Let us not knock that down.

One of my biggest concerns is shortening the time from 60 days to 20 days for someone to file. If you are hit with a defamation suit, whether you are a sophisticated or unsophisticated defendant, it takes some time to get your bearings about you. You do not see this coming most of the time, even if you are a newspaper reporter and you think you have done a great job. All of a sudden you are hit with this. It takes time to go out and find the right attorney. If you are a less well-heeled defendant, it may take your meeting with several attorneys because you do not have the money to pay and are looking for someone to do it pro bono or on a reduced basis. Giving someone 60 days is not going to have a negative impact on the plaintiffs in this case.

Regarding changing the standard to prima facie evidence, prima facie evidence says that if I have admissible evidence, it has to be accepted as truth. The standard is, if I have admissible evidence, the court has to look at it as if it were true. The other side now has to have the burden to prove that it is false. Therefore, it is shifting the burden unlike what was testified to earlier. This will not stop good defamation cases from going forward. If someone makes a defamatory statement, those cases will go forward. What this does is stop someone from having a vexatious, penalizing, chilling effect, defamation suit against the rightful actor who spoke properly and spent three years going bankrupt to defend his right to speak freely. So much of what I wanted to say I believe was covered by Mr. Lichtenstein and Mr. Smith. The Nevada Press Association and I believe the law as it stands is fine the way it is.

Joseph Guild, representing Motion Picture Association of America:

I would like to apologize to the Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee. I have talked to him in private about this. Frankly, we missed this bill as well when it was on the Senate side. We do have concerns and believe it is an infringement on First Amendment rights. As most of you know, I am a Nevada lawyer for more than 30 years. I am licensed to practice in California as well. Frankly, I know a whole lot more about equine liability than I do about the First Amendment and SLAPP lawsuits. In that regard, I will introduce my colleague.

Melissa Patack, Vice President and Senior Counsel, Motion Picture Association of America:

I appreciate the opportunity to testify regarding S.B. 444 (R1). The Motion Picture Association of America is the trade association for the major producers and distributors of filmed entertainment content across all platforms

from theatrical to motion pictures to programming for cable, over-the-air broadcast, satellite television, and the Internet. Our member companies include The Walt Disney Company, Fox Filmed Entertainment, NBC Universal, Paramount Pictures, Sony Pictures Entertainment, and Warner Brothers. CBS is an associate member. I am here to explain why we oppose S.B. 444 (R1) and to offer our suggestions for amending the bill.

Anti-SLAPP laws exist in some form in 29 states. They are very important to our member companies as entertainment companies are frequently sued on a variety of theories from someone who believes they were not portrayed accurately in a motion picture to a news outlet over the reporting of a news story. These types of lawsuits implicate the First Amendment and are often filed because a plaintiff disagrees with what one of our companies or its affiliates has said or disseminated. The ability of the defendant to bring an anti-SLAPP motion can resolve the case efficiently and economically—preserving the defendant's First Amendment rights.

The bill pending before this Committee moves Nevada's anti-SLAPP law in the wrong direction. It would make the anti-SLAPP motion a complex two-part process. I think that has not really been discussed. That is one of the major changes. It bifurcates the process. The first proceeding would be whether the matter is of public concern. If the moving party establishes that, it goes on to the so-called merit. It is really in two parts and really increases the complexity of a SLAPP motion rather than what the SLAPP motion is designed to do, which is to expedite a resolution of the case.

The bill sets an unrealistic time barrier for the filing of an anti-SLAPP motion. Many defendants will not have the ability to comply with that short 20-day requirement. The bill also narrows the issues that can be subject to an anti-SLAPP motion from an issue of public interest to an issue of public concern. We also believe that narrows the focus. When a plaintiff files a lawsuit that implicates the First Amendment rights of a defendant, the plaintiff should have sufficient information that supports his or her claim. When the defendant files the anti-SLAPP motion, the plaintiff should have to come forward with evidence that is sufficient to support every element of his or her claim. It is important that the court have enough information to determine that the plaintiff can establish a legitimate claim.

The bill also took us by surprise since the Legislature amended Nevada's anti-SLAPP law in 2013. We are not aware of any court decisions that could be motivating this effort to roll back a very good law. To the extent the Legislature has the desire to revisit the law, we respectfully request you consider turning to

your neighbor to the west. The California anti-SLAPP law enacted in 1992 strikes a good balance. It allows the defendant the opportunity to seek dismissal of a case that seeks to stifle the defendant's First Amendment rights, and it does not dissuade plaintiffs from bringing claims in the first instance. I am happy to talk further about California's law. I also have some examples of cases that have been filed against our companies and how the SLAPP motion has worked to resolve these cases expeditiously. Thank you, and I appreciate your consideration.

Marc Randazza, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:

I am here in opposition of S.B. 444 (R1). I practice defamation law extensively. I am licensed in five states. I am actually sitting for the Ontario, Canada bar exam this summer. I have worked on defamation cases worldwide, including one recently in Zambia. Let us just say that I am obsessed with this area of law, and not just on the defense side. I believe in protecting people's reputations. I believe in people being responsible for the exercise of their right of free speech. I have my name on a number of plaintiff's cases, as pointed out by the proponents. The majority of them have been in states where there is an anti-SLAPP law like the one we have now. I have no fear of this law when I am signing a complaint on behalf of a plaintiff because I do my homework first. I sit down and use some of that statute of limitations time to make sure that we are ready and have our evidence. Frankly, I get calls frequently from people who ask me to file the suit even though there is not much of a chance of winning. They suggest that we drive the defendants into discovery knowing the defendants do not want that. When that happens, I hear the cash registers ringing in my ears, and I think that I can keep this case going for 18 months or so. I do not use my law license that way, and I will not do it because I believe in freedom of expression. I do not believe in bullying people with lawsuits designed to suppress their First Amendment rights.

I want you to think about something. There are a lot of people talking about the technical aspects of this, which I really wanted to talk about. However, they have already expressed it eloquently and perfectly. I just want you to think about the spirit of what is happening here. The intellectual spark of the American Revolution was lit in a defamation suit. It was a seditious libel suit filed pre-Revolution against Mr. John Peter Zenger, by the then-governor of colonial New York. All they had to prove at that time to punish Mr. Zenger was that he published it. It was a prima facie case. The jury in that case refused to convict him despite the fact that the law required them to. From there grew our freedom of the press. From there grew our theories of free expression that continue to this day.

I believe its high-water mark in this country was in 2013 when this body passed the current anti-SLAPP law. I was involved in drafting the current anti-SLAPP law, and I was involved in advocating for it. I did not get everything I wanted. I would have seen it go a little further. We really looked to Washington to our inspiration, which was an evolution of Oregon's law, which was an evolution of California's law. One thing I wish we had put in there from Washington is the fact that these attorney fees can also be imposed on the attorney who brings the action. I am not going to make myself very popular with other members of the bar calling for liability for us, but I think if you want to amend the statute, put that in there.

I want to talk about the functionality of the 2013 law. As soon as it passed, I was able to go to clients of mine who run media companies and tech companies and say now we have the best one; move here. I did move some of them here. I am in the process of trying to move a Yelp competitor here. They are currently in New York. I have explained to them that they will be under this umbrella. It is true that they are protected under federal law from liability for anything that someone puts on that consumer review site. That is not an immunity from a lawsuit, however. I have many active cases on behalf of this client currently. Many of them begin with a phone call from a plaintiff's attorney who says, I know we will not win at the end, but do you really want to spend tens of thousands of dollars defending this? Or, do you want to pull this one review down? That does not infringe on my clients' rights. That infringes on the free market and the marketplace of ideas. That hurts the people who go to this review site looking for information about goods and services that they are going to consume. It is an artificial finger on the scales of justice and on the scales of the free market.

I do not fit into any camp whether liberal or conservative. I am very much a free-market libertarian. I seem to only wind up defending the little guy. This bill really eviscerates the statement that this body made in 2013 that we are going to be a bastion of liberty. Other states do not have laws this strong. Ohio and Pennsylvania are currently looking to us for inspiration. They are working on laws that are going to be mirrors of ours. Florida is on the verge of passing its own anti-SLAPP law partly inspired by us. We are standing at the top of the mountain here, and we want to climb down lower than we were when we passed the law in 2013. This statute is terrifying for a defendant. I can answer any specific questions you may have. I have my head into this thing very deeply, but I do not want to go off on my speech about liberty and the economy too much more.

Chairman Hansen:

Before I go to questions, this is just a reminder that I have another six people in southern Nevada that would like to testify. Since three of them are ordinary citizens, I want to make sure I give them an opportunity. Let us question these three and then we will go to the others.

Assemblyman Jones:

I do not want to get into the weeds because there are so many constitutional issues and technical legal issues. We had the original law that Assemblywoman Genie Ohrenschall brought about. What caused the change to go to the law that exists now, and what is really driving the change back? I would like the practical application for people and businesses in society. Why did we change it in 2013 and why are we trying to change it again in 2015?

Marc Randazza:

The pre-2013 law was way too narrow. It only applied to petitioning activity and not free speech. We expanded it for that purpose. There was also a question as to whether it would provide for an interlocutory appeal; it did not. If you lose an anti-SLAPP motion, it is not much good to you that the plaintiff's case was frivolous and you figure that out three years later on appeal after spending \$100,000; you are already dead. It allows you to immediately have that denial reviewed, which is very important. The current statute provides for your immunity from suit as a substantive right. What is beautiful about that is that it applies in federal court. If somebody decides to try to prey upon a Nevadan or a Nevada-based business, bringing them to court in a state that does not have an anti-SLAPP statute, which is a creative approach that is tried once in a while, you can attempt to use choice of law to have our SLAPP law applied in the other state. It is not always successful, but if we want to update our law, we could possibly sure-up that right.

The other things that were in the original law were great. Another issue is S.B. 444 (R1) completely and totally repeals the SLAPP-back law. I do not know why we would do that because it provides penalties for somebody who does abuse this law and is not scared of a \$15,000 legal bill that might get imposed on them for trying to take someone to task for simply exercising his First Amendment rights. If you want to know about this in very simple terms, it does not change the end result of the case. All that S.B. 444 (R1) does is narrow the class of cases and makes it harder to employ the statute to get rid of frivolous cases early. The end result of the case is the same. You just do not get there until you have gone through 36 months of litigation.

Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:

This question is for Mr. Randazza. I would like to ask you about section 12. We have heard some discussion about what section 12 would do. When Mr. Langberg came into my office, he mentioned the Ninth Circuit case which declared SLAPP suits to be substantive and would, therefore, apply if the forum court is outside of Nevada. Is that your understanding? It does look like section 12 crosses out the unity provision, which is loss-allocating and, therefore, substantive under a conflicts analysis. Can you comment generally on the totality of the case law and what this strike would do?

Marc Randazza:

I will talk about the Ninth Circuit case issue. The Ninth Circuit did not hold that anti-SLAPP statutes apply in federal court as a blanket statement. In fact, there have been federal appellate courts that have looked at other states' anti-SLAPP laws and said that since they are procedural and not substantive, they do not apply. Most notably, the Eleventh Circuit looked at Georgia's anti-SLAPP law, which is really similar to the West Coast states. However, it threw in a procedural element that controlled the statute. Most states will look at a legal issue and will not say that the whole case is governed by one state's law. Maybe the defendant's immunities are under one state's law, but other issues are under another state's law, or could even be the plaintiff's responsibility. It is not true that anti-SLAPP laws automatically apply in federal court. Only their substantive issues will apply. Assemblyman Anderson, you get an A+ for identifying that issue.

Ron Green, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:

I am Marc's partner at Randazza Legal Group. I am also a 15-year Nevada resident. Unlike Mr. Randazza, I am not a nationally renowned First Amendment attorney. I practice primarily in trademarks and copyrights. I am not going to discuss the technical aspects of S.B. 444 (R1) or the current anti-SLAPP law. I am just going to tell you about what I have seen over the past 18 months.

Chairman Hansen:

Are the both of you with Mr. Randazza at the law firm? He has already testified, and I want to make sure I provide the opportunity for other folks to testify. If all three of you are basically representing the same view, I will have to stop you, unless you have something very specific and new to add that he did not testify to. I would like you to limit your testimony to new material only. Frankly, we are up against a time window.

Ron Green:

I am going to testify as to what I have seen the current anti-SLAPP law do. I have seen it interest media, technology, and entertainment companies in Nevada. I have seen those companies relocate to Nevada. After this bill was introduced, I have seen those same companies say that they may have to leave if this bill is passed. This bill is bringing business here and makes our citizens' First Amendment rights arguably the strongest in the nation. It does not make sense to pare that back when we are currently the leader. I do not want to see us become a follower again.

Theresa Haar, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:

I am also an attorney with the Randazza Legal Group. I am a 25-year resident of Nevada. In addition to being licensed in Nevada, I am also licensed in New York. The difference between the progression in litigation in states that do not have anti-SLAPP laws versus Nevada is remarkably different. As Mr. Smith spoke about the chilling effect in states where there is no anti-SLAPP statute, we have had clients that have had no other option than to simply forgo their rights because they cannot afford the tens and hundreds of thousands of dollars that years of litigation costs. The anti-SLAPP statute that Nevada has is remarkable because it can afford people the opportunity to recover attorney fees. We have taken a number of cases on a contingency basis knowing that they will be made whole again by the award of attorney fees at the end. If you value your own opinions, if you value the opinions of Nevadans, and if you respect your right to express your opinion and to stand on your truth, I urge you to be in opposition of S.B. 444 (R1).

Joe Johnson, representing Toiyabe Chapter, Sierra Club:

We are here in opposition of S.B. 444 (R1). I am happy to be here this morning. It has been a long time since I have been before your Committee. I was around here in 1997, when the original bill was passed. I was once an Assembly member and a member of the Assembly Committee on Judiciary. I am testifying today as a geologist. The weeds overwhelm me, but there are very significant reasons to leave the existing law alone. There are some proposed amendments that may clarify things. It is a very good bill, but I would like to go on record as opposing its passage.

Anne Macquarie, Private Citizen, Carson City, Nevada:

I am here speaking on behalf of myself and the Sierra Club. I am a citizen of Carson City. I urge you to oppose S.B. 444 (R1). As you have heard, we currently have a strong anti-SLAPP law on the books. If S.B. 444 (R1) is enacted, I believe it will greatly gut this law and diminish our right to free speech in Nevada. As you know, SLAPP lawsuits are used as a way to punish small organizations and individuals with sometimes years of attorney fees in

order to scare us from speaking out against the actions of powerful businesses and individuals. The name really does say it all—strategic lawsuit against public participation. My colleagues and I are all about public participation. I belong to, and have worked for, organizations that can be and have been threatened by such SLAPP suits. This bill would remove the vital protection of the existing law from the active citizens and small businesses of Nevada. I believe it does not help the citizens of our state.

John Mehaffey, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:

When the 2013 law was enacted, I read about it in tech magazines. It essentially advertised our state as the place to move your tech business, especially if you were involved in the media or speech issues. I was about to leave the media business because I was burned out, but this got me excited about the First Amendment and invigorated my career. Part of my job involves the online poker industry. I help expose scams of the offshore sites from other states. There are a lot of bad characters in that industry. For the past few years, I have been part of exposing them and helping to advocate for players to not only avoid the scams but to get the industry legalized in their own states to protect them. It is a very heated debate. When the anti-SLAPP law was enacted, it gave me the reason to stay. I was going to move and get into another industry. It completely changed my mind.

One benefit of my business is that 100 percent of my revenue comes from outside of Nevada. Some of it even comes from outside of the country. Not only do I not take a job from somebody else, but I am creating jobs when I spend the money in Nevada's economy. I was also able to talk two other businesses into moving here specifically because this law exists. I am prepared to move to Texas if S.B. 444 (R1) passes, because they have an enacted law that is almost identical to ours.

I have been threatened by people who did not like that I exposed their business practices. In 2014, I received a letter from someone who was trying to use me as leverage against somebody he was angry at. I sent this person a link to our current anti-SLAPP law and suggested he read it. I never heard from him again.

My main concern about S.B. 444 (R1) is the change of definition on what is qualified speech. I work in the online poker industry, and most people do not care about that. I do not think that would fall under the new definition. Suddenly, I am going to be exposed to things that are freedom of the press simply because it is not considered to be a wide public concern issue. I feel that all speech should be covered. Whether it is factual or is someone's opinion, I do not think we should separate one thing from another. Just because you disagree with me or think the topic is of no interest to you does

not make it have any less effect. If I can prove that something has an effect, it should fall under this law, and I should be able to get a charge against me dismissed. I have never been involved in a lawsuit like this, but it is a concern when you work in media. You have to protect yourself.

My family planted roots here after this law went into effect. My wife is going to be a teacher in the Clark County School District this fall, and my kids are involved. We are all involved in the community. I want to stay here, but I am really prepared to leave if this passes. I do not see any reason to stay and continue on with the type of business that I operate. [John Mehaffey also submitted written testimony ([Exhibit D](#)).]

Heather Snedeker, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:

I am a current law student at the William H. Boyd School of Law at the University of Nevada, Las Vegas. I am also a member of the Federalist Society at the law school. While I do not believe that First Amendment speech is particularly a partisan issue, I will be especially surprised if the conservative members of this Assembly are for S.B. 444 (R1).

First Amendment principals are the cornerstone of our foundation and our tradition as a nation. From the John Peter Zenger trial of 1735 to *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, it is clear that defamation claims must be absolutely proven by the plaintiff just so that we can all protect our rights to free speech. Lowering the standard to prima facie goes against our own principals as a nation.

I would also hope that Senator Brower or other proponents of this bill do not let a personal vendetta against a particular attorney who is leading the opposition against this bill cause them to sell out their own constituents. Voters in 2016 will not take too kindly to their assemblymen and assemblywomen selling out their rights for financial and personal reasons. Therefore, I urge you all to vote no on S.B. 444 (R1).

Chairman Hansen:

Thank you, although I would appreciate no ad hominem attacks on the persons bringing the bills forward. Frankly, this is not the place for that.

Homa Woodrum, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:

I have lived in Nevada for 15 years, both in Las Vegas and Winnemucca. My practice focuses mostly on elder law and guardianship. I am also a food allergy blogger and cofounder of the Allergy Law Project, a blog that focuses on disability rights related to individuals who suffer from food allergies. I mention this because the intersection of being an attorney and being part of a narrow

online community results in contacts who reach out to me when they receive requests to remove content on their personal blogs. These individuals wonder about their rights and may opt to take down information rather than wrangle threatened legal action. Other individuals contact me after anaphylactic reactions wondering what they can or cannot say about their experiences out of a desire to keep others in the food allergy community safe. Some examples are a mother whose son was served real milk instead of soy milk; a college student being served his allergen knowingly by a barista; or a visitor to Las Vegas for a convention being served nuts and being left to administer his own epinephrine by hotel staff. Every single one of these individuals opted not to share their stories because of a commonly held notion that they cannot speak out against companies with big pockets without risking suit.

The way S.B. 444 (R1) is written, I would have to advise them that the risks are indeed too high. A suit can still be filed and the expense of a defense incurred even if you ultimately prevail. There are others, like Mr. Randazza, who I respect as a nationally recognized First Amendment attorney, that can speak more pointedly about the nuances of S.B. 444 (R1). I am here to add my voice because I think this is an access to justice issue. I imagine some attorneys would see S.B. 444 (R1) as job security. I would rather see continued protective measures available to the host who would be crushed by the expense of defending litigation. A plaintiff always has a choice to do a cost-benefit analysis before initiating suit. *Nevada Revised Statutes* 41.670 is a necessity in the digital era. As a Nevadan and attorney and a mommy-blogger, I thank you for your time and I urge you reject S.B. 444 (R1).

Chairman Hansen:

I see no questions. Thank you both for your testimonies. We are going to move to the neutral position on S.B. 444 (R1). Seeing none, I will bring Senator Brower and Mr. Langberg back up.

Senator Brower:

Mr. Langberg is going to begin by addressing a few points in rebuttal. I will then wrap things up.

Mitchell Langberg:

I want to say that I appreciate the policy decisions to be made in this, and I appreciate the portion of the opposition that has engaged in some intellectual debate about it. I think that is important and part of the First Amendment.

Changing the law by adopting S.B. 444 (R1) does not mean defendants do not have all of their constitutional rights and the ability to defend themselves against a defamation claim that has shown initial merit. With apologies to Assemblyman Jones, I realized that I half-answered your question, but I would like to fully answer your question now. People have said that there is no example of a case that has been filed that has somehow been harmed by the existing law. That is because when somebody is considering a case, particularly a case that requires proof of knowledge of falsity, it cannot be filed under this statute. That is not theoretical; that is real. There is more than one case that I have filed for Nevada businesses in other states because we could not proceed here. In other states, courts have found claims to be meritorious enough to proceed past initial motions. It is a practical effect. I also told you about the doctor on Yelp who has been falsely accused of committing malpractice. That is a real case that could not be filed here because he would be putting his finances at risk if he could not show clear and convincing evidence that the person knew it was false even though it was false.

I will reframe the premise because everyone is talking about First Amendment rights and free speech. The question is, when somebody is accessing his or her First Amendment rights to petition, what should be required? Why should he or she be required to do something that no other plaintiff has to do to prove he or she has evidence to support the case at the very beginning of trial? How much are we going to burden the First Amendment right to petition with our SLAPP statute? This is a balancing and a policy decision. The description by the Washington appellate courts, which I can make available to anybody, talks about the difference between matters of public concern and matters of public interest, and why one might get more initial protection than the other. It is a very good analysis to explain this. If it is a matter of public interest, people will still have all of their constitutional rights to be able to defend the lawsuit. Everyone who is a defendant in any lawsuit has to face the possibility that they may have to spend a lot of money to defend themselves. What is going to be subject to this special notion?

I want to clarify how this bill came to be and who is behind it in order to affect the ears with which listening occurs. I missed it the last time around. As soon as the statute that exists came out two years ago, I recognized what I think are very serious issues that impinge on the First Amendment right to petition. I started working very hard and talking to lots of people about how to do this because I am not familiar with the process. I am thankful for a client that I worked for in the litigation context whom I no longer work for today. When the negative impact that this could have on businesses was explained to my former client, he agreed and was willing to put his "know-how" behind it and assisted me to get this bill to you today. That is how we got here.

I want to make something else abundantly clear. I am very familiar with the case that Mr. Smith spoke of. I am talking about the Wynn case out of California against Mr. Chanos, which was recently dismissed. It should not surprise you that I disagree with the court's decision and we are appealing. If the same judge was considering the same case under S.B. 444 (R1), the case would have been dismissed. What S.B. 444 (R1) does is ensure that meritless lawsuits are dismissed. I hear cries for examples which I have now given you. What you have not yet heard is an example of a meritless lawsuit on a matter of public concern that would not be dismissed under S.B. 444 (R1). You will not hear that because we worked very hard to balance the First Amendment rights to have meritless cases dismissed with the interest of plaintiffs having cases that meet the minimal standard get to the next step where there are even more constitutional protections that a defendant might use to have the case dismissed.

Somebody said that we have the best anti-SLAPP statute in the country. With a caveat, that is actually true. We have the best anti-SLAPP statute in the country if you believe that people whose reputations have been maligned and damaged in public should not have a right to seek redress in the courts. Certainly, if I ran a newspaper or media company, my preference would be to repeal all defamation laws because I do not want to answer those questions at all.

Assemblyman Anderson asked about discovery and what limited discovery means. Fortunately, both the states of Washington and California have recognized discovery is a constitutional right when it is controlled by the courts. They have litigated this very well. In the context of an anti-SLAPP motion, discovery can only be granted when the court finds there is good cause and approves the specified discovery request. Therefore, you do not get your discovery templates and send them all out. The court is going to approve the specific discovery requested.

There was a question about the current penalties for SLAPP-backs and whether judges are reluctant. I cannot tell you what happens in Nevada. There is not a lot of anti-SLAPP litigation here because cases are not being filed, and sometimes they are meritorious cases that are not being filed. From experience in California, where I have litigated anti-SLAPP cases, judges are very reluctant to do it. They have just told the defendants that they have lost on their anti-SLAPP motion and will have to spend the money to defend the lawsuit because there is merit to it. They are very reluctant to also say the defendant will have to pay attorney fees on top of that. They usually defer it until the end of the case. As you know, most cases do not ever get to the end.

I believe I have addressed the major concerns that stood out to me. If the Committee has any further questions, I am happy to answer them.

Senator Brower:

We appreciate the chance to have this very productive dialogue, and I know Mr. Langberg appreciates all of the excellent questions from the Committee.

I would like to make a few closing remarks. First, I would like to address Ms. Snedeker if she is still listening. I really appreciate law students participating in the process. I, too, am a member of the Federalist Society and have been since law school. I currently serve on the Executive Committee of the Federalist Society's Criminal Law and Procedure Practice Group, and I am a proud member of that group. I am also an adjunct professor at Boyd School of Law. I respectfully suggest to Ms. Snedeker, if she is interested in becoming an effective legislative advocate, she might want to think about taking the course on legislative advocacy. Frankly, I have no idea what she was talking about when she mentioned personal gain or vendetta. I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for trying to restore some decorum to the Committee's process.

From my perspective, we did not make a statement on this issue during the 2013 Legislative Session. That was a bill that probably did not deserve enough debate and scrutiny. A few of us were uncomfortable during various provisions. To say that the 2013 Legislature made a statement about what the policies should be is a gross exaggeration. We can make a statement this session in trying to restore some balance to the situation.

I want to commend Assemblyman Ohrenschall and his mother, whom I served with in this body. I know she is very proud of the 1997 law, and she should be. It is a good law. We think that S.B. 444 (R1) is an improvement upon that and we also think it is necessary change given what happened last session.

As Mr. Langberg said, we only have the best statute in the country currently. If you are a person who wants to engage in defamation with impunity, we have a pretty darn good law. If you are a potential plaintiff or defendant in a defamation case, I would respectfully submit that S.B. 444 (R1) represents a much better law and a much better process for litigating such disputes. The only goal of mine in supporting this bill and testifying before you today is to protect the right of both plaintiffs and defendants in these cases. That is what this bill does and why we think it is important.

I have watched this Committee closely over the last three days, and I have been impressed. I know you will focus on the real issues presented by this bill and that you will do your best to ignore the background noise, some of which we heard today. It is an important issue, and we need to get this right. This is not my bill, but I have interjected myself into this issue because I think it is important. I, Mr. Langberg, and others stand ready to work with this Committee to make this bill the best it can be. We understand your continued concerns and will take your recommendations and suggestions in order to get this right. Thank you very much for your time, and I am happy to answer any questions.

[Items submitted but not discussed, and are included as exhibits for the meeting, include a letter of opposition from Ryan A. Hamilton ([Exhibit E](#)), a letter of opposition from TechNet ([Exhibit F](#)), a letter of opposition from Reporters Committee for Freedom of the Press ([Exhibit G](#)), and letter of opposition from Marc Randazza ([Exhibit H](#)).]

Chairman Hansen:

Thank you all for your testimony. At this point, we are going to close the hearing on S.B. 444 (R1), and open it up to public comment.

Ed Uehling, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:

I am a 72-year resident, and I have had two brushes with this issue. I just wanted to talk about those.

Chairman Hansen:

Sir, we have actually closed the hearing on that bill. However, you may briefly say whether you are in favor or against the bill.

Ed Uehling:

I am totally against the bill and very appalled by allowing this person to present himself as an advocate of the poor when everyone knows who he is representing and the bully he is representing.

Chairman Hansen:

Okay, that is all I need to know. Thank you, I appreciate your testimony. We will now close public comment. Is there anything else that needs to be brought to the Committee at this time?

Assemblyman Elliot T. Anderson:

I want to make a quick comment to Senator Brower and Mr. Langberg to say that I appreciated the academic discussion. It was invigorating, and I truly enjoyed it.

Chairman Hansen:

This meeting is adjourned [at 10:40 a.m.].

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

Janet Jones
Recording Secretary

Lenore Carfora-Nye
Transcribing Secretary

APPROVED BY:

Assemblyman Ira Hansen, Chairman

DATE: _____

EXHIBITS

Committee Name: Assembly Committee on Judiciary

Date: April 24, 2015

Time of Meeting: 8 a.m.

Bill	Exhibit	Witness / Agency	Description
	A		Agenda
	B		Attendance Roster
S.B. 444 (R1)	C	Vanessa Spinazola, ACLU of Nevada	Letter of Opposition
S.B. 444 (R1)	D	John Mehaffey, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada	Written Testimony
S.B. 444 (R1)	E	Ryan A, Hamilton, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada	Letter of Opposition
S.B. 444 (R1)	F	John Doherty, Vice President and General Counsel, TechNet	Letter of opposition
S.B. 444 (R1)	G	Bruce D. Brown, Executive Director, Reporters Committee for Freedom of the Press, Washington, D.C.	Letter of Opposition
S.B. 444 (R1)	H	Marc Randazza, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada	Testimony in Opposition